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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE VIOLIN MEMORY SECURITIES Case No.: 13-CV-5486 YR
LITIGATION
ORDER GRANTING IN PART DEFENDANTS'

MOTIONS TO DISMISS

Lead Plaintiffs Ali Shehk and Alan Richards (collectively “Plaintiffs”) bring this
consolidated class action complaint againdebBéants Violin Memory, Donald Basile, Dixon
Doll, Cory Sindelar, Howard Bain Ill, Lardyang, Jeff Newman, MarRosenblatt, David Walrod,
(together, “Violin Memory Defendants”) and J.P. Morgan, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Me
Lynch, Barclays Capital Inc., Robert BaimdaCo., Pacific Crest Securities LLC, and EM
Securities LLC (together “Underiter Defendants”).

The Consolidated Amended Complaint (“CACTeges violations of the Securities Act of
1933 (“Securities Act”) in conndon with the intial public offering (“IPO”) of Violin Memory,

Inc. (“Violin Memory”), a California-based compw that developed and sold flash-based memo
devices. Plaintiffs assert thatdin Memory’s Registration Statemehtontained material and

misleading omissions and misrepresgions. (CAC 1 3.) On behalf of themselves and all othe

! Documents comprising the “RegistratiBtatements” include: Violin Memory’s

Registration Statement filed with the SBE& Form S-1 on August 26, 2013 (Dkt. No. 63-2),
Amended Registration Statement filed with the SEC on Form S-1/A on September 16, 2013
No. 69-1), and Prospectus filed with theCS& Form 424B4 on September 27, 2013 (Dkt. No. €
1; “Prospectus”). (CAC 1 8.)
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who purchased or otherwise acquired Violin Meyngecurities in connection with the IPO,
Plaintiffs assert strict liabilitand negligence claims under Sections 11, 12(a), and 15 of the Ad

Both groups of Defendants, the UndeteriDefendants and the Violin Memory
Defendants, have filed motions to dismiss the3QG# the grounds that, generally, Plaintiffs have
failed to meet the pleading standard under FededalsRu Civil Procedure 8nd 9 and have failed
to state a claim under Rule 12(B)(§Dkt. Nos. 61, 66.) Eachaup of defendants has joined in
the other’s motion to dismiss. f@adants have also filed requekisjudicial notice (Dkt. Nos. 62,
69) and the Violin Memory Defendants have filedeparate Appendix to their Motion (Dkt. No.
68.) Plaintiffs have moved to strike the Appenand have opposed certain requests for judicial
notice? (Dkt. No. 74.)

These motions came on for hearing on J1ine2014. Having carefully considered the
papers submitted and the pleadings in thiacthe arguments presentdhe hearing, and for
the reasons set forth below, the Court he@hyNTS in part the Motion to Dismiss with leave to
amend. Defendants’ Requests for Judicial Notic&ssmeNTED in part. Plaintiff’'s Motion to
Strike iISGRANTED in part.

l. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The facts herein are gleaned from the CA@;uments referred to therein, and judicially
noticed materials.

Violin Memory is a California-based technology company that designs and manufactu
flash memory devices for servers and networkiénform of flash memory arrays and memory

cards. (CAC 1 10.) Flash memory is a computer storage medium that can be electrically erg

2 Neither Violin Memory Defendants nor Rigiffs have complied fully with the rules

governing local civil practice in thdistrict. Violin Memory Dé&ndants have included additional
argument in support of their Mot to Dismiss in the form @& chart itemizing the alleged
omissions in the CAC and contrasting those allegations with excerpts from the Registration
Statement. Defendants are hereby cautionedhbgtmust seek leave of Court to file such
submissions in the future. Plaintiffs’ Motioo Strike challenges bothe Violin Memory
Defendants’ Appendix and the various requestsuicjal notice. A motion to strike is not the
appropriate mechanism for challenging Defendamtgtests for judiciatotice. The Court has
nonetheless considered these argumastgpposition to the requestSeéSection IIA,infra.)
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and reprogrammed.Id) Itis used in memory cards, BSlash drives, solid-state drives, and
similar products, for general stme and transfer of datald) Flash memory offers potential
advantages compared to traditional hard disks or tddg. Kor example, it does not have the
mechanical limitations and latencies (or slownes$)aodl drives, and it has the potential to be more
efficient relative to hard diskshen considering speed, noise, powensumption, and reliability.
(1d.)

On September 27, 2013, Violin Memory iss@dIPO of 18 million shares of common
stock at $9 per share. (CAC 1 1.) In conmectiith the IPO, the Conamy filed several offering
documents, including the Registration StatehoenForm S-1 filed on August 26, 2013, Amended
Registration Statement on Form S-1/Adilen September 16, 2013 (“Amended Registration
Statement”) and a Prospectus on Form 424B4 filed on September 27, 2013 (“Prospectus”). Thes
documents contained information regarding @ompany’s financiatatus, business and
management, and products. These documentsatgained risk disclosas amounting to twenty-
Six pages and pertaining to, ang other things, the Company’s number of customers, operating

history, cash flow, its recent introduction of a new line of products, market acceptance of its

D
o

products, and the impact of adverse economic conditions. (Prospectus, at 5, 10-36; Amendyg
Registration Statement at 11-37.) The disclosures did not minimize the high-risk nature of the
investment. For example, relative to theaficial condition of the Company, the Amended

Registration Statement included the following:

e Without obtaining adequate capital funding or improving our financial
performance, we may not be able to continue as a going concern. The report
of our independent registered puldiccounting firm for the year ended
January 31, 2013 included herein @ns an explanatory paragraph
indicating that there is sutastial doubt as to our aliy to continue as a going
concern as a result of recurring losBesn operations and negative cash flows
... Our ability to continue as a ggi concern will be determined by our
ability to complete this offering enliog us to fund our expansion plans and
realize our business objectives. Irddidn, we have incurred a net loss and
negative operating cash flows in each quarter since our inception and expect
to incur losses in future periods as @antinue to increase our expenses in
order to position us to grow our busase If we are unabl® obtain adequate
funding from this proposed offering or the future, or if we are unable to
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The Amended Registration Statement disadase Company’s relatively limited operating

history, the difficulty of estimating future growéimd the unlikelihood of sitar growth rates in the

future:

The Amended Registration Statement also highéidlhe significant market and industry risk{

grow our revenue substantially to aeye and sustain profitability, we may
not be able to continue as a going@am. (Dkt No. 69-1 at 12 (italics and
bold in original; additional emphasis supplied).)

We have experienced significant lossesvashave continued to invest in our
product development, customer senacel sales and marketing organizations
... We intend to increase our investnseintour marketing services and sales
organization and to continue inveg significantly in research and
development at the expense of neam profitability. As a resultye

anticipate that we will incur net losses at least for the next several quarters.

(Id. at 48 (emphasis supplied).)

[W]e have limited experience fromhich to formulate an accurate
expectation of our product lifecycleshich could make it more difficult for

us to plan our product development timelines to meet customer and market
demands. I€l. at 11.)

Our revenue growth rate in recent periodsis not likely to recur and is not
indicative of our future performance. You should not consider our revenue
growth in recent periods as indicatiekour future performance. We do not
expect to achieve similaevenue growth rates intfure periods. In fact, in
future periods, our total revenue codlkekcline. For example, even though our
total revenue increased 373f0fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011, our total
revenue declined 53% for the threenths ended April 30, 2012 compared to
the three months ended January 3,2 You should not rely on our revenue
for any prior quarterly or annual periods as an indication of our future revenue
or revenue growth. If our revenue deelnfrom our prior performance, it may
be difficult to achieve andhaintain profitability. [d. at 12-13 (emphasis in
original).)

facing the Company and their potent@impact sales and profitability:

The market for flash memory inostige products is rapidly evolving.
Accordingly, our future financial performance will depend in large part on
growth in this market and on our ability adapt to trends in this market as
they develop and evolve . . . The rapidiyolving nature of the technology in
the data storage products market, alb ageother factorthat are beyond our
control, reduce our ability to accurately predict our future performance. Our

\°ZJ
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products may never gain broad adoption, and changes or advances in
technologies could adversely afféisé demand for our products . . . A
reduction in demand for flash-basedalstorage caused by lack of end-
customer acceptance, technological lemgles, competing technologies and
products or otherwise would resultarlower revenue growth rate or
decreased revenue, either of which vdonégatively impact our business and
operating results.lq. at 18-19.)

e |f wefail to develop and introduce new or enhanced products on a timely
basis, our ability to attract and retain customers could be impaired and our
competitive position would be harmed. (Id. at 20 (emphasis in original).)

Despite these and many other stark discloswgarding business risks, Violin Memory’s

IPO was fully subscribed and Defendants allegeagilsed over $145 million. Soon after the IPO,

the stock price plummeted: Violin Memongstock price closed on November 22, 2013, at $3.11

per share. (CAC 1 2.)

In November 2013, Plaintiffs brought this piita class action against Defendants. The
operative CAC, filed on March 28, 2014, identifielegéd misrepresentatioasd omissions in the
Registration Statement documents relating éoftliowing topics, the disclosure of which
purportedly caused theosk price to decliné:

(1) Material engineering and developmenigems with Violin Memory’s 6000 Series

Flash Arrays, a flash memory device;
(2) Material technical defects with Violin Meory’s PCle Cards, another of Violin
Memory’s flash memory devices, and that pretthufailure to gairmarket acceptance;
(3) That Violin Memory was having diffidties optimizing the PCle Cards for
Toshiba, one of its largest customers;

(4) Material negative trends concernitigg Company’s sales to the federal

government, a major consumer of Violin Memory’s products;

(5) Material negative information concernigplin Memory Chief Executive Office

3 Despite including block quotations and putpdrexcerpted sections of the Registration

Statement in the CAC, Plaintiffs have negledtedclude any citationseferencing particular
pages in the relevant documents. Plaintiffs’ faillaréclude citations tsarequired that Defendant
and the Court search extensively for each oitatinrough hundreds of pages of SEC filings.
Should Plaintiffs elect to file proposed First Consolidated Ameddéomplaint, they must includg
proper citations, includg pincites.

UJ
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Donald Basile’s prior experience in thash memory market and his “for cause”
termination from Fusion-io, a competitor flash memory company;
(6) Unusual transactions in the form of sate Underwriters J.P. Morgan and BofA
Merrill Lynch that inflated the Company’slea and revenue figures just prior to the
IPO; and
(7) The amount of the Company’s non-cancelable purchase orders.
(SeeCAC 1 31.)
The two specific Violin Memory products issue in the CAC are the 6000 Series Flash
Memory Arrays (“6000 Flash Arrays”), which weeintroduced in September of 2011, and the

Velocity Peripheral Component Interconnect Express Flash Memory Cards (“PCle Cards”). At the

time of Violin Memory’s September 2013 IPQibstantially all of the Company’s revenue was
derived from the Flash Memory Arrays. (Dkt. N®-1 at 19.) For thexsmonths ended July 31,
2012, sales of the 6000 Series Flash Memoryyrrapresented approximately 84% of the
Company’s product revenue, and ovex tiext year rose to 91%Ild(at 53.) The PCle Cards,
introduced in March 2013, were intendedprovide generally the sanechnology and benefits of
the 6000 Flash Arrays, but in a differéotm for other segments of the mark¢CAC | 11.)
Unlike the 6000 Flash Arrays, PCle Cards can operdietimservers and wastations via PCle
interfaces on a computer’'s motherboa(@AC § 11.) At the time of the IPO, the Company had
not derived significant revenue frotime sale of the PCle CardéAmended Registration Statement
at1-2.)
Plaintiffs claim that at the time of the IPO in September 2013, Violin Memory represented
that these products had been successfully dasigleeeloped, and well-received in the market
across multiple segments, including the U.S. fa@dgovernment, and that these representations
were false when madeS€eOpp. at 1.) Plaintiffspecifically allege that the Registration
Statement failed to disclose material defeots$ @evelopment problems regarding the PCle Cards,
including that the PCle Cards menot optimized or sustainaldee to material technical and
engineering defects. Ptdiffs further allege that the Regiation Statement contained an omissiz[‘r
r

or misleading statement with respect to howRkie Cards were programmed and developed f
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Toshiba, a leading provider of flash memongl@ne of the Company’s principal stockholders.
The Registration Statement representedttteCompany had entered into a PCle Card
development agreement with Toshiba, purst@mthich Violin Memory was to “develop a
derivative product.” Plaintiffs allegéat contrary to this represetite, at the time of the IPO, the
Company was experiencing “material difficutibuilding and developing the PCle Cards in
accordance with Toshiba’s specificas.” (CAC § 37.) Plaintiffalso contend that although the
Registration Statement represented that the P&lds had gained, or very likely would gain,
market acceptance, that was not so.

Plaintiffs advance similar claims regardithg 6000 Flash Arrays, alleging that at the tim
of the IPO, Violin Memory was experiencing maéengineering and delopment problems with
these products as well. According to the CACthe months leading up to the IPO, Violin
Memory experienced material gtive developments and enganieg defects that resulted in
breakdowns, failure to protect datand the need for costly uniqiie addresses that resulted in
compatibility problems for customers. (CAC  47.)

Next, Plaintiffs assert thanaterial negative trends concerning sales to the federal

(1%

government were not disclosed and that the gowent sequestration was negatively impacting the

Company’s revenue. The Registration Statemgmesented that “[tjh&nited States government

can also suspend operations if Casgrdoes not allocate sufficienhfls to a particular agency or

organization, and the United States government may allow our competitors to protest our sugcess

bids. The occurrence of any okfe events may negatively affectr business, operating results

and financial condition.” (CAC { 54.) Plaintiffentend that this statement, and other similar

statements, were untrue because at the time dPesales in the Company’s federal division had

been declining materially over tiseurse of the fiscal year. Piffs further contend that the
government sequestration negatively impacteddbmpany’s revenues, but nowhere was that
reflected in the Registration Statement.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs coahd that negative informatia@oncerning the background and
business experience of the Company’s Chieddtxive Officer (“CEQO”), Donald Basile was

improperly withheld and was materidPlaintiffs argue that the failure to share the fact that Mr.
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Basile was terminated “for cause” from his piogitas CEO at Fusion-io, Inc. was misleading.
(CAC 1 75.) Plaintiffs allege #t they and other members of tikass would have considered the

fact that Defendant Basile was recently terminétedcause” from his position as Chief Executiv]

D

Officer with one of the Company’s main competitorsgheir decision to invest in the Company.
Plaintiffs contend that this inforation should have been disclosed.

Plaintiffs next allege thainusual transactions conductadMr. Basile artificially and
materially inflated the Company’s income and ray& Before the IPO, Violin Memory sold the
6000 Flash Arrays to J.P. Morgan and BofA Mekiynch in exchange for being selected as
underwriters for the Company’s IPO. (CAC  78.piRtiffs argue that thizansaction dificially
inflated Violin Memory’s revenuas reported in the Registration &m@ent. Plaintiffs contend thai
in light of the unusual means by which the transactiegi® negotiated and the fact that it inflated
revenues, the Registration Statarhshould have disclosed the above information but failed to go
so.

Finally, Plaintiffs contend that the Regaion Statement should have disclosed the

Company’s non-cancelable purchase orders, which Plaintiffs argue was required by U.S. generall

accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). (CAC 11 89,) Plaintiffs asg¢that Registration
Statement reported that, as of January 31, 20@3Company had approximately $15.9 million of
outstanding purchase commitment&tmtract manufacturer ancher vendors. The Registration

Statement did not disclose the amount of amding purchase commitments as of July 31, 2013

The next reported outstanding purchase commitments, as of October 31, 2013, disclosed that tho

commitments were in excess of $85 million. Riifis contend that this negative trend was
material and that the figures as of July 31, 2@b8uld have been disclosed, and that the omitted
information would have been considered by reasonable investors in making their decisions to
purchase Violin Memory stock. (CAC 1 83-86.)
I. DiscussION
A. REQUESTS FORJUDICIAL NOTICE
In general, a court cannot consider materaltside the pleadings on a motion to dismiss

for failure to state a claimSeeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(b). A court may, however, consider items of
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which it can take judicial notice without conviag the motion to dismiss to one for summary
judgment. Barron v. Reich13 F.3d 1370, 1377 (9th Cir. 1994). A court may take judicial notic
of facts “not subject to reasonaldispute” because they are eitt{@&) generally known within the
territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) caple of accurate and ready determination by resq
to sources whose accuracy canmatsonably be questioned.” d=&R. Evid. 201. Additionally, a
court may take judicial notice of “matters of pigltrecord’ without conveing a motion to dismiss
into a motion for summary judgmentl’ee v. City of Los Angelea50 F.3d 668, 689 (9th Cir.
2001) (quotingMGIC Indem. Corp. v. WeismaB03 F.2d 500, 504 (9th Cir. 1986)). Under the
incorporation by reference doctrirmurts may consider documefighose contentare alleged in
a complaint and whose authenticity no party qoesti but which are not physically attached to tH
[plaintiff's] pleading.” In re Silicon Graphics Inc. Sec. Litjgl83 F.3d 970, 986 (9th Cir. 1999)
(quotingBranch v. Tunnell14 F.3d 449, 454 (9th Cir. 1994)) @tition in original) (superseded
by statute on other grounds). Where a documewetésenced or incorporated by reference into g
complaint, “[tlhe court may treatuch a document as ‘part oetbomplaint” and the Court “may
assume [their] contents areérfor purposes of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b){@afder

v. Lopez450 F.3d 445, 448 (9th Cir. 2006) (citations omitted).

Applying the “incorporation by reference” daae, the Court grants Defendants’
unopposed requests for judicial notice of (i) Vidiemory’s Form A-1/A, filed with the SEC on
September 16, 2013; (ii) a trangtrof Violin Memory’s Q3 2014 Earnings Call from November
21, 2013; (iii) Violin Memory’s Form 8-K, filedn November 21, 2013, andathed press releas¢
(iv) the Prospectus filed witthe SEC on September 27, 2013; (v) Form S-1 filed with the SEC
August 26, 2013; and (vi) the @gester Order For Fiscal Year 2013 issued on March 1, 2013.
(Dkt. Nos. 63-1, 63-2—63-5, 63-6; 69-1, 69-2, 6% alsdkt. Nos. 74 at 7; 75 at 4.)

Plaintiffs dispute Defendants’gaest for judicial notice of ne documents falling into four
categories: an SEC filing, analysport, news articles, and codocuments. The Court considers

each category in turn.

D

DIt

e

on
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In the first category, Plaintiffs contest juditnotice of Violin Memory’'s SEC filing Form
10-K for fiscal year 2014, filed on April 16, 2024(Dkt. No. 74 at 5-7.)The Court grants judicial
notice of this document. The April 2014 10Which post-dates the filing of this action, is
nowhere referred to in the CAC, but the substaneeeth relates to Plaintiffs’ allegations that thel
had been financial chicanery at play both wéhpect to disclosure of the Company’s purchase

order commitments and GAAP compliance. Moreopeblic records, sucas SEC filings, are

e

properly the subject of judicial nog, and routinely considered in deciding a motion to dismiss in a

securities caseln re Extreme Networks, Inc. S'holder Derivative Ljt§¥.3 F. Supp. 2d 1228,
1232 n.2 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (citinigt re CNET Networks, Inc483 F. Supp. 2d 947, 953-54 (N.D.
Cal. 2007)1n re Calpine Corp. Sec. Litig288 F. Supp. 2d 1054, 1076 (N.D. Cal. 2003)).
Accordingly judicial notice iI$SRANTED.

Second, Defendants seek judigiatice of a Deutsche Bankalpst report (Dkt. No. 69-5)
as relevant to their argument concerning lossaton. Defendants arguethudicial notice is
appropriate, as the report relates to the relatiprisdiween disclosures made in the Earnings C4g
and Press Release, subsequent analyst guidadadtanate stock price decline, and information
that was provided to the market concerningdfiect of the decline in sales to the federal
government. Plaintiffs counténat this document is not reti@ipon in the complaint and the
information therein is redundant of other infotroa of which the Court lataken judicial notice
insofar as it relates to what information the neameasonably knew at tiiene of the IPO. (Dkt.
No. 74 at 7-8.) The Court agrees. Considenatiothis document is not appropriate in this
procedural context. Defendantsquest for judicial notice IBENIED.

Third, Defendants seek judiciabtice of certain court documents related to Mr. Basile’s
termination from Fusion-io: a stipation of dismissal, an order dismissal, and a docket sheet.
(Dkt. Nos. 63-7, 63-8, 63-9.) Federal courts may “take notice of proceedings in other courts,
within and without the federal judal system, if thosproceedings have a direct relation to the

matters at issue.Del Puerto Water Dist. v. U.S. Bureau of Reclamati¥il F. Supp. 2d 1224,

4 Plaintiffs do not contest judial notice of the Form 10-Qvhich is the subject of
Defendants’ Supplemental Request for Jadibiotice. (Dkt. No. 77-1.) The COUBRANTS
judicial notice of this document.

10
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1233 (E.D. Cal. 2003) (citingnited States ex rel Robinson Rancheria Citizens Council v. Borneo,
Inc., 971 F.2d 244, 248 (9th Cir. 1992)). Plaintdfgue that these documents inappropriately
dispute that Mr. Basile was terminated “for agluand are therefore noppropriate for judicial
notice. The Court agrees.lthough documents related to juditproceedings are generally
deemed appropriate for judiciabtice, here these documents affered to dispute the factual
merits of Plaintiffs’ claim concerning the natwkMr. Basile’s termiation. Accordingly, the
CourtDENIES judicial notice of these documents.

Finally, Defendants seek judiciabtice of news articles reiag to the federal government
slowdown to show what information was generally known to the public during the relevant time
period. Plaintiffs argue that besmuthese articles do not pertairMiolin Memory directly, they

are not properly subject to juial notice. For that, and othindamental reasons, the Court

agrees.Patel v. Parnes253 F.R.D. 531, 549 (C.D. Cal . 2008) (“The numerous cases that disquss

news articles as part of the ‘total mix’ of infoation available to invests address only articles
about the defendant’s activitieschperformance, not articles abaurt industry as a whole” (listing
cases)). Defendants’ requests for jualiciotice related to these documentOEsIIED.
B. MOTIONS TO Dismiss
1. Legal Standard

The parties dispute whether Plaintiffs’ CAGould be analyzed undihe notice pleading
standards of Rule 8 or the heigh#dmpleading standards of Rule 9(Ijule 9(b) requires that “in
alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state \paticularity the circurstances constituting fraud
or mistake.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Th®urt addresses each standard in turn.

Whether the heightened standaofifRule 9(b) applies turns dhe nature of the allegations|,
not the elements of the claimiRule 9(b)applies to ‘averments of fraudi all civil cases in federal
district court . . . in cases in which fraud is noessential element of theagin, Rule 9(b) applies,
but only to particulaaverments of fraud.Vess v. Ciba—Geigy Corp. US&17 F.3d 1097, 1103
(9th Cir. 2003). A plaintiff “may allge a unified course of fraudulent condact rely entirely on
that course of conduct as the basis of a clainthdhevent, the claim &aid to be ‘grounded in

fraud’ or to 'sound in fraud,” and the pleading of that kias a whole must satisfy the particularity

11
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requirement of Rule 9(b).1d. at 1103-04. A typical example ofathsituation is where a plaintiff
alleges that the same course of conduct constibhdth securities fraud under Section 10 as well

a violation of Section 11. In other cases, “a plaintiff may choos#&.allege some fraudulent and

some non-fraudulent conduct. In swases, only the allegations cdifid are subject to Rule 9(b)'s

heightened pleading requirements$d. at 1104.

Section 11 claims are not inherentlgdd-based even though they do require a
misrepresentation. When grounded in fraud, “théiqdarity requirements dRule 9(b) appl[ies]
to claims brought under Section 111i re Stac Elecs. Sec. Litj9 F.3d 1399, 1404-05 (9th Cir.
1996),cert denied520 U.S. 1103 (1997). “Fraud can bemed by specifically alleging fraud, or
by alleging facts that necessarily constitute fraud (even if the word ‘fraud’ is not {sesh 317
F.3d at 1105 (citations omitted). “Under Califortaa, the ‘indispensable elements of a fraud
claim include a false representation, knowledge daltsty, intent to defaud, justifiable reliance,
and damages.”ld. (citations omitted). Importantly, sciamtis not required for claims under
Section 11; defendants may be liable undetiSe 11 for negligent or even innocent
misrepresentationdn re Daou Sys., Inc411 F.3d 1006, 1027 (9th Cir. 2005) (internal citations
omitted).

In their CAC, Plaintiffs argue that they do ramtvance a claim that sounds in fraud or a
unified course of fraudulent conduc@ee In re Charles Schwab Corp. Sec. Li2§7 F.R.D. 534,
545 (N.D. Cal. 2009) (noting that wte, as here, the plaintiff hast alleged that the same course
of conduct constitutes both a Seat11 violation and a violaih of other laws necessarily
sounding in fraud such as Rule 10b-5, the “unifiegrse of fraudulent conduct&st is essentially
circular and is thereforgninstructive). Defendants counter thithough fraud is not specifically
pleaded, the allegations in the CAC necessaahstitute fraud. (VM Defs.” Mot. at 8 (“At its
core, the CAC alleges that the Violin Memdgfendants knew but faileéd disclose material
negative information concerning its businessdpicts and customers in connection with the

Company’s IPO.”); 10-11.) Having examined the@Ahe Court agrees with Plaintiffs and finds

12
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that with one minor exceptidnthe facts alleged do not “necessadbnstitute fraud (even if the
word ‘fraud’ is not used)."Vess 317 F.3d at 1105 (citations omitted).

The CAC does not specifically allege frautdaavoids averments inherently suggestive o
fraud—i.e., there is no allegation that defenddktsowingly” or “intentionally” concealed
information or made misrepresentations. haligh such allegations could be inferred, the

allegations in the CAC can equally support the inference that Defendants committed such

misrepresentations without any scienter. Plaintiffstual allegations preset a plausible claim that

Defendants committed the misrepresentationsoamdsions negligently. Plaintiffs have not
expressly pleaded fraud, and have pleaded non-frases bar liability. Thus, the Court declines {
find that Plaintiff’'s CAC rcessarily sounds in frau&ee In re Charles Schwab Corp. Sec. Litig.
257 F.R.D. at 546 (noting the patyoof Ninth Circuit published écisions finding that Rule 9(b)
applies to a Section 11 claim where, as heeeutiderlying conduct was nalso alleged to have
constituted fraud).

In light of that finding, the Court will evalt@whether the Complaint states a claim for a

violation of Section 11 under Federal Rule of CRibcedure 8. Rule 8(agquires that a plaintiff

> The only instance of a factual allegation t@ainds in fraud occurs at CAC Paragraphs 7

78, under the heading “The Registration Statemeifed-to Disclose thaBasile Artificially
Inflated Sales of Violin Memory’s 6000 Flash Arrdyslaintiffs assert that prior to the IPO,
Violin Memory sold the 6000 Flashrrays to J.P. Morgan and Boferrill Lynch in exchange for

being selected as underwriters for the Company®s IPhe sales to J.P. Morgan and BofA Merrill

Lynch resulted in sizable product revenue gains for the Company in the first two quarters of f
2014, and therefore artificially inflated ViolMemory’s revenue. Given the unusual means by
which the transactions were negteid, Plaintiffs allege that tHeegistration Statement should ha
disclosed the above information but failed to do Ae.further support, Platiffs argue that Item
303 of Regulation S-K (17 C.F.Rart 229) required that the @istration Statement disclose
unusual or infrequent transactions that matlriaffected reported income, and that the
Registration Statement failed to dse or explain how Violin Memory in material part achieved
the increase in product revenue.eT@ourt finds Plaintiffs to havessentially pleaded that Mr.
Basile “artificially inflated” the sales and orchegéd this “unusual” transaction and the resultan
failure to disclose such transactions in thgiRgation Statement. Ese allegations sound in
fraud, but nowhere does the CAC allege witl particularity facts eancerning Mr. Basile’s
orchestration of these transactions or thesilecito omit these details from the Registration
Statement. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ allegations related to Mr. Basile’s financial dealings with th
underwriters are “disregarded,” tatripped from the claim,” fofailure to satisfy Rule 9(b)Vess
317 F.3d at 1105.
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“provide a ‘short and plain statement of theiiclashowing that [he] is entitled to relief."Johnson
v. Riverside Healthcare Sys., 534 F.3d 1116, 1122 (9th Cir. 2008) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P.
8(a)(2)). “This is not an onerous burden. Speddcts are not necessary; the statement need o
give the defendant[s] fair notice of what the claim is and the grounds upon which it restd.”
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)ondtheless, the complaint is properly dismissed
it fails to plead “enough facts to state a cldonelief that is plausible on its face.Weber v.

Dep't of Veterans Affair$21 F.3d 1061, 1065 (9th Cir. 2008) (quotBwjl Atlantic. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544 (2007)). In making this deteation, a court must be mindful that

a district court ruling on a ntion to dismiss is not sittings a trier of fact. Itis
true that the court need not accept ae tonclusory allegations, nor make
unwarranted deductions or unreasonabler@mfees. But so long as the plaintiff
alleges facts to support eettry that is not faciallymplausible, the court's
skepticism is best reserved for later sagf the proceedingghen the plaintiff's
case can be rejected on evidentiayugds. “[A] well-pleaded complaint may
proceed even if it strikes a savvy judpat actual proof of those facts is
improbable, and that a recovery is very remote and unlikely.”

In re Gilead Scis. Sec. Litigh36 F.3d 1049, 1057 (9th Cir. 2008) (quofirngombly 550 U.S. at
556). That said, the Court is “not requirecatept as true conclusory allegations which are
contradicted by documents referred to in the complaimire Stac Elecs. Sec. Litj@9 F.3d at
1403.
2. Count 1, Part 1: Section 11 Gdim — Actionable Omissions

Section 11 of the Securities Act “providgsause of action to any person who buys a
security issued under a magdly false or misleadingegistration statement.In re Century
Aluminum Co. Sec. Litig729 F.3d 1104, 1106 (9th Cir. 2013). To state a claim under Section
plaintiffs must adequately pled(ll) that the registration s&hent contained an omission or
misrepresentation, and (2) that the omission arepresentation was matdrithat is, it would
have misled a reasonable investor about the nature of his or her investRgnie v. Capitol
Bancorp Ltd, 551 F.3d 1156, 1161 (9th Cir. 2009) (quotinge Daou Sys., In¢411 F.3d at
1027). Section 11 is a strictlidity statute that does noe¢quire fraudulent intenin re Daou Sys.,

Inc., 411 F.3d at 1027. “A claim under Sectionbdbked on the omission of information must
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demonstrate that the omitted information existethe time the registration statement became
effective.” Rubke 551 F.3d at 1164. Moreover, where the adequacy of the disclosures is at i
Defendants must make a “stringshbwing” that “reasonable mis could not disagree” that the
disclosures were not misleading§ee Livid Holdings Ltd. ®alomon Smith Barney, Ind.16 F.3d
940, 947 (9th Cir. 2005) (dismissal on the plagdibased on sufficient cautionary language
“requires a stringent showingfhere must be sufficient ‘cautioryalanguage or risk disclosure
[such] that reasonable minds could not disaghat the challenged statements were not
misleading.””). The “materiality” of an omissn is a fact-specific dermination that should
ordinarily be assessed by a juiy re Stac Elecs. Sec. Litji®9 F.3d at 1405 (citingecht v. The
Price Co, 70 F.3d 1078, 1080-81 (9th Cir.1995)). “[O]nly if the adequacy of the disclosure ol
materiality of the statement is so obvious that reasonable minds coulff@ioare these issues
appropriately resolved as a matter of lawd” (citing Fecht 70 F.3d at 1081).

The crux of Defendants’ argument is that #fileged omissions that form the basis for
Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim arén fact, not actionable omissis either because they were
contained in the Registration Statement or wert&e public domain at the time of Violin
Memory’s IPO. In essence, Defendants conteatirtbne of the statements with which Plaintiffs
take issue are actionable becalleCAC lacks allegations to suppan inference that they were
either false or misleading as a matter of laMae Court considers each category of Plaintiffs’
allegations in turn, as outlined on Pages Sufra

a. Statements About PCle Cards

Plaintiffs argue that there are five misrepragagons relating to PI€ Cards. (Opp. at 10-

12.) The relevant excerpts from the Amem@Registration Statement including the alleged

misrepresentations include:

e Our Velocity Peripheral Componenténconnect Express, or PCle, Flash
Memory Cards leverage our persistar@gmory-based architecture in servers
and are optimized for applicationsatirequire continuous access to large
guantities of low latency persistent memory located directly in servers. We
have demonstrated that our persistaatmory-based storage solutions provide
low latency and sustainable performarwith enterprise-class reliability,
availability and serviceality through produttesting and customer feedback.
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Our solutions enable customers toimmasignificant capitbexpenditure and
operational cost savings by simplifyingethdata center environments. (DKkt.
No. 69-1 at 78.)

Our Flash Memory Arrays integrate enterprise-class hardware and software
technologies to cost-effectively a@ds the limitations of other storage
solutions. Our storage systems are based on a four-layer hardware architecture
which is tightly integrated with owiolin Memory Operating System, or
vMOS, software stack to optimize theanagement of flash memory at each
level of our system architecture. March 2013, we expanded our innovation
in persistent memory technologieddaroprietary techniques in flash
management from our memory arrays to our Velocity PCle Flash Memory
Cards. Our Velocity PCle Flash MemdCards leverage our expertise in
persistent memory-based storage emaitroller design, as well as our vMOS
software stack, to offer a differentiated architecture in a widely deployable
PCle form factor. (Dkt. No. 69-1 at 1, 78.)

Our products are highly technical and may contain undetected defects,

which could cause data unavailability, loss or corruption that might, in

turn, result in liability to our customers and harm to our reputation and
business.

Our Flash Memory Array and VelociBCle Flash Memory Card products
and related software are highly techniaati complex and are often used to
store information critical to oumel-customers’ business operations. Our
products may contain undetected erroréects or security vMaerabilities that
could result in data unawability, loss or corruptioror other harm to our end-
customers. Some errors in our progumay only be discovered after they
have been installed and used by endamasts. Any errors, defects or security
vulnerabilities discovered in our prods@fter commercial release, or any
perception of the same in the marketplace, could result in a loss of revenue or
delay in revenue recognition, injury éoir reputation, a loss of end-customers
or increased service and warranty coats;, of which could adversely affect
our business. (Dkt. No. 69-1 AT (emphasis in original).)

Factors that are difficult to predicté@ithat could cause our operating results
to fluctuate include:
[...]
e the degree to which our Velocity PCle Flash Memory Cards gain
market
acceptance. (Dkt. No. 69-1 at 15.)

If our Velocity PCle Flash Memory Cards do not gain market adoption or
sales of our Velocity PCle Flash Memory Cards grow more slowly than
anticipated, we may not be able to increase our revenue sufficiently to
achieve and maintain profitability.

16
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We have devoted a significant amoohtesources to developing and
marketing our Velocity PCle Flash M®wry Cards and believe our future
growth will substantially depend on the market acceptance and adoption of
this new product. Because we aretsigecally targeting the PCle memory

card market and expending a consideralpt®unt of resources in doing so, if
our Velocity PCle Flash Memory Cards do not gain market acceptance, our
results of operations, business and prospects would be materially and
adversely affected. (DkNo. 69-1 at 19.)

The core of Plaintiffs’ argument is thaigbtems existed at the time of the IPO and the
Registration Statement’s presentation of sucl@ms as mere possibilities was inaccurate and
misleading® (CAC 1 32-35; 38-45.) Spediéilly, Plaintiffs allege that the Registration Stateme|
failed to disclose material defects and develepnproblems regarding the PCle Cards that had
materialized prior to the IPCRlaintiffs assert that although tRegistration Statement represents
that the Company had already “optimized” itsi®Cards and had already “demonstrated” their
capabilities through “produi¢esting and customer feedbacérid that it had already expanded its
innovation in flash memory to the new line of PClards that “leverage”st“expertise,” when in
reality, the PCle Cards were “not optimizedsustainable” because of numerous “material
technical and engineering defetiacluding inoperable firmwaregliance on hardware instead of
supporting components, difficultiessociated with repairing hardvea unexpected shutdowns, an
power disruptions. (CAC 11 34, 37.) Plaintiffs tdlkgher issue with thetatement that the PCle
Cards “may contain undetected errors, defecteourity vulnerabilities,{CAC { 33), arguing that
this representation was untrue becatisepresents that the only masdrerrors, defects, or security
vulnerabilities suffered by theCle Cards were undetected,, there were no present material
errors or defects. Plaintiffs also contend thatstatement that “the degree to which [its] [PCle
Cards] gain market acceptance” is “difficultgredict” and could caus®perating results to
fluctuate” was misleading because “[tlhe PCledSahad already been offered to and rejected by
the market.” (CAC 11 39, 45.) According to Plaintiffs, the Registration Statement representg

the Company had “devoted a significant amounesburces to developing and marketing [its]

6 Plaintiffs expressly disclaim that theiachs concerning PCle Cards should have been

disclosed pursuant to Item 303Régulation S-K. (Opp. at 11 n.13.)
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[PCle Cards]”; that the Company’s “futureogrth will substantially depend on the market
acceptance and adoption of this new product”; aat“th[the PCle Cards] do not gain market
acceptance, [the Company’s] resudf operations, business and pects would be materially and
adversely affected.” (CAC 1 40.) Plaintiffs cend that such representations are “untrue” beca
they are framed as contingencies rather than ai#sgaliln reality, Plaintfs assert, the PCle Cards
had already proven unsaleable and obsoletbdtime the Registration Statement became
effective. (CAC 11 41-45.)

Defendants contend that none of Plaintiffs’ identified representations qualify as materi
omissions or misrepresentations because tigesRation Statement contained adequate risk
disclosures and cautionary languaggarding PCle Cards. In parilar, Defendants argue that th
Registration Statement’s representations conegrRCle Cards were framed as possibiliteeg;
that there may be “undetectedt@s or defects, or that “ifthe PCle Cards “do not gain
acceptance” the investors stood to lose, and ¢arwavcome the heavy weight of the myriad
disclosures in the Registration Statement.

The Court agrees. “[W]here a company’siij contain abundanhd specific disclosures
regarding the risks facing the company, as opposextse, generic statements, the investing puk

is on notice of these risks anchoat be heard to complain ththe risks were masked as mere

contingencies.”Plevy v. Haggerty38 F. Supp. 2d 816, 832 (C.D. Cal. 1998) (discussing cases).

“Rather, to be actionably mislead, an omission ‘must affirmatively create an impression of a
state of affairs that differs in a matenehy from the one thatctually exists.” In re Ubiquiti
Networks 2014 WL 1254149, at *10 (N.D. Caarch 26, 2014) (quotinBrody v. Transitional
Hospitals Corp. 280 F.3d 997, 1006 (9th Cir. 2002)).

Here, the Registration Statement containecherous disclosures regarding the highly
technical nature of the Flash Aysaand PCle Cards, including explicit disclosures that the PClg
Cards may contain undetected defects, andliea®Cle Card was a new product for which the
Company had derived no meaningfevenue as of the IPO, anmdght never generate revenue
Given these disclosures, Plaifs cannot be heard to complain that the disclosures were

inadequate. For example, the Company disclosed:
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e We only recently introduced our VeltgiPCle Memory Card solutions in
March 2013 and have not derived sigeafit revenue from the sale of these
solutions to date. (Dkt. No. 69-1 at 1-2.)

e Our Flash Memory Array and VelociBCle Flash memory Card products and
related software are highly technicaldacomplex and are often used to store
information critical to our end-custa@rs’ business operations. Our products
may contain undetected errors, defectsemurity vulnerabilities that could
result in data unavailability, loss oorruption or other harm to our end-
customers. Some errors in our progumay only be discovered after they
have been installed and used by endarusts. Any errors, defects or security
vulnerabilities discovered in our proda@fter commercial release, or any
perception of the same in the marketplace, could result in a loss of revenue or
delay in revenue recognition, injury éoir reputation, a loss of end-customers
or increased service and warranty coats; of which could adversely affect
our business.Id. at 17.)

e |f our Velocity PCle Flash Memory Cards do not gain market adoption or
sales of our Velocity PCle Flash Memory Cards grow more slowly than
anticipated, we may not be able to increase our revenue sufficiently to
achieve and maintain profitability. (Id. at 19 (emphasis in original).)

The Company further explaingidat developing the PCle Cards was a time intensive anc
expensive process, explaining that “our investsm@ntesearch and development . . . may result
products that are more expensivartlanticipated, take longer torgegate revenue or generate les
revenue, if at all, than we tcipate. . . . we may not recesignificant revenue from these
investments in the neéuture, if at all.” (d. at 21.) The Registratiddtatement warned that the
PCle Cards “may never gain broad adoptiond. &t 19.) In fact, some of the purported omissio
with which Plaintiffs take issue were specifigatlisclosed in the Registration Statement. For
example, Plaintiffs allege that the Companyitted “software incompatibility problems” (CAC |

51) when the Registration Statement disclosed‘thatproducts must interoperate with network

i

in

interfaces such as . . . software applicationshemdware developed by others, and if we are ungble

to ensure that our products irgperate with such sefare and hardware, we may . . . experience
reduced demand for our productgDkt. No. 69-1 at 20.)
Under the facts alleged in ti@AC, viewed in a light mogavorable to Plaintiffs, and

giving due consideration to thadts provided in the Registratiora&ment, the Court finds that ng
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reasonable investor could have been misledrdaggthe high degree of risk involved in the

purchase of Violin Memory stock. The Companyiyriad comprehensive and specific disclosures

relating to the PCle Cards make clear thatstagements with which Plaintiffs take issaeen if
construed as Plaintiffs allege, didt “alter the mix” of informatiorsuch that they could reasonabl
be understood as misleading, much less materially misleading.

Defendants’ motion as to thtsitegory of allegations (SRANTED.

b. Statements About the Company’s work with Toshiba

Plaintiffs also contend that the Regititva Statement failed to disclose “material
difficulties building and developing the PCle Camisccordance with Toshafs specifications.”
(CAC 11 36, 37.) Plaintiffs offero specific factual algations concerning what those “material
difficulties” were. Regardless,dRegistration Statement is suféotly clear about the Company’
relationship with Toshiba and tiséatus of the PCle Cards development to render Plaintiffs’ bal
“material difficulties” allegation immaterial.

The language in the Registration StatementRintiffs contend isnisleading is contained

in the following excerpts:

e In March 2013, we expanded ounovation in persistent memory
technologies and proprietary techrégun flash management from our
memory arrays to our Velocity PCle Flash Memory Cards. Our Velocity PCle
Flash Memory Cards leverage our expertise in persistent memory-based
storage and controller dgsi, as well as our vMOS software stack, to offer a
differentiated architecture in a @ely deployable PCle form factor.
Additionally, we believe our relationshipith Toshiba, a leading provider of
flash memory and one of our princigbckholders, allows us to design our
systems to unlock the inherent penmfance capabilities of flash technology
and enables us to devplaround new generations of flash memory rapidly.
(Dkt. No. 69-1 at 1.)

e In July 2013, we entered into a P@ard Development Agreement with
Toshiba, pursuant to which we will develop a derivative product to our
Velocity PCle Flash Memory Card which complies with Toshiba’s
specifications and sell sample PCledsato Toshiba. Pursuant to this
agreement, Toshiba paid us $16 million. The $16 million payment consisted
of $8 million for our services to be performed for the development of the PCle
cards, and $8 million for our sale of sample PCle cards to Toshiba and related
support services. If we are not ablenteet the milestones described in the
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agreement, we must refund the amaatttibuted to undelivered goods and
services by September 15, 203@kt. No. 69-1 at 119.)

To the extent that Plaintiffs contest doyward-looking statements (“we believe our
relationship with Toshiba” or “& will develop”), the Court findthat the “bespeaks caution”
doctrine “provides a mechanism by which [it] cateras a matter of law #t defendants’ forward-
looking representations containedough cautionary language or riikclosure to protect the
defendant against claims sécurities fraud.” "In re Stac Elecs. Sec. Litj@9 F.3d at 1408 (citing
Fecht 70 F.3d at 1081)By definition, the bespeaks caution doctrine applies only to affirmative,
forward-looking statementddowever, the Ninth Circuit has alawved that the doctrine “merely
represents the pragmatic applioatiof two fundamental conceptstime law of securities fraud:
materiality and reliance.ln re Worlds of Wonder Sec. Litji@5 F.3d 1407, 1414 (9th Cir. 1994).
Again, based on the Registration Statement’s extersd specific discloses, the Court finds
that no reasonable investor would have consiiany of Plaintiffs’ alleged misstatements or
omissions material.

The Registration Statement discloses théyestage and hurdles of the PCle Card
development process both as a general mattexdeaimed above) and spediéilly with respect to
the Toshiba deal. (Dkt. No. 69-1 at Ex. 10.2Bhis agreement reflects that Toshiba had not
agreed to purchase any PCle Gaadd would reject th€ards if certain milestones were not met.
(Id. at Ex. 10.23 p. 4-5 (stating that if “Toshibgeds the Developmental Samples, Toshiba shall
promptly notify Violin ..."”.) Violin Memory ako related the attendant risks, including the
obligation to pay damages in the event thédiled to satisfy Toshiba'’s requirementsd. (“If
Violin has not been able to deliver theM@®pmental Samples for each Product by August 31,
2014, then, unless [otherwise] agreed ... Vislmall reimburse to Toshiba the Individual
Developmental Service fee for each such Producighatdelay ... as liquidated damages ...").)
The Registration Statement informed investoed Troshiba’s acceptance or purchase of any PCle
Cards was not guaranteed, and the attachmehétBegistration Stateant related that “any
potential deliverables &t might be included in [a future] Agreement ematingent deliverables

that are dependent upon the successful development and completion of the PCl e cards under the
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current development agreement for which thereis substantive uncertainty.” (ld. at F-27
(emphasis supplied).) Given these extensive ahdtantive disclosures,dhtiffs’ contention that
the Registration Statement in some way misrepredehe nature of theedl with Toshiba or the
Company’s development of the PCle Cards fat lurpose fall short. Again, even construing
Plaintiffs’ alleged omission in Bght most favorable to thenthis cannot overcome the great
weight of the Registration Statemt’s disclosures. Defendants’ imm as to these allegations is
GRANTED.
c. Statements About the 6000 Flash Arrays

Plaintiffs allege three misrepresentati@osicerning the 6000 Flash Arrays, which turn or

Defendants’ alleged failure to diese material defects with thisoduct. Relevant excerpts of the

Amended Registration Statement including these alleged misrepresentation are as follows:

e Our Flash Memory Arrays integrate enterprise-class hardware and software
technologies to cost effectively aéds the limitations of other storage
solutions. Our storage systems are based on a four-layer hardware architecture
which is tightly integrated with owiolin Memory Operating System, or
vMOS, software stack to optimize the management of flash memory at each
level of our system architeceur (Dkt. No. 69-1 at 1.)

e Our products must interoperate with network interfaces, such as operating
systems, software applications and hardware developed by others, and if we
are unable to ensure that our products interoperate with such software and
hardware, we may fail to increase, or we may lose, market share and we
may experience reduced demand for our products.
Our storage products comprise only & g a datacenter’s infrastructure.
Accordingly, our products must interoperate with our end-customers’ existing
infrastructure, specifically their netwks, servers, software and operating
systems, which are typically manufaed by a wide variety of systems
vendors. When new or updated versiohthese software operating systems
or applications are introduced, we must sometimes develop updated versions
of our software so that our produat$eroperate properly. We may not
accomplish these development efforts glyickost-effectively or at all. Iq.
at 20 (emphasis in original).)

e Our Flash Memory Array and VelociBCle Flash Memory Card products
and related software are highly techniaati complex and are often used to
store information critical to oumel-customers’ business operations. Our
products may contain undetected erroréects or security vMaerabilities that
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could result in data unawability, loss or corruptioror other harm to our end-
customers. Some errors in our progumay only be discovered after they
have been installed and used by end-custométsat(17.)

Plaintiffs argue that the peesentation that 06000 Flash Arrayalready “integrate
enterprise-class hardware and software technadbgied that the Company'’s “four-layer hardwar
architecture” and “software stackfready “optimize the managemaitflash memory . . . "

(CAC 1 46), was untrue because there were iogdonaterial negative developments and
engineering defects,” (CAC § 47). Second, Plistake issue with thRegistration Statement’s
claim that the Company “must sometimes develop igazersions” of its “software so that [its]
products interoperate properly,” but that @@mpany “may not accomplish these development
efforts quickly, cost-effectively aat all.” (CAC | 48.)Plaintiffs assert tht this statement is
misleading because the 6000 Flash Arrays haddrieeen experiencing engineering defects wit
regard to the “controller cardsg’general “inability to devefpdata management software,”
“incompatibility problems,” and “delays in deloping a software sgem enabling Company
customers to utilize productgthout “experiencing low throughput ..” (CAC § 51.) Third,
Plaintiffs challenge the Registian Statement’s claim that the Company’s 6000 Flash Arrays “n
contain undetected errors, defeatsecurity vulnerabilities” anthat these errors, defects, and
security vulnerabilities “could rekun a loss of revenue or dglan revenue recognition . . . .”
(CAC 1 49.) Plaintiffs contend that these stageta are misleading due to the already realized
software operability problems described above argue that these problems “resulted in lost
sales” and Defendant Basile’s admission thdtitional optimizations [had] delayed [the
Company’s] revenue.” (CA§Y 50-52.) Defendants counteatlthe Registration Statement
contained disclosures that warriadestors that problems mighise, and that if so, revenues
would likely be impacted.

For the reasons stated above, the Condsfihat the Company disclosed myriad
comprehensive and specific information regardivgnature of these products as complex and
highly technical, and that all @6 products including the 6000 Flash Arrays were susceptible tg
defects and vulnerabilitiesndeed, the alleged misrepresentations Plaintiffs identiferateedded

within certain relevant disclosuresSgeDkt. No. 69-1 at 17.) It was no mystery that the risks
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relative to the 6000 Flash Arrays could havelastantial effect on reveie. The Registration
Statement related that thie time of the IPGsubstantially allof the Company’s revenue was
derived from the Flash Memory Arrays. (Dkt. N®-1 at 19.) For thexsmonths ended July 31,
2012, sales of the 6000 Series Flash Memoryyrrapresented approximately 84% of the
Company’s product revenue, and oves tiext year rose to 91%Ild(at 53.) To the extent that
Plaintiffs contend that a defeexisted at the time dhe IPO, that facgven if true, cannot
overcome the great weight of thescosures that specifically dissked the likelihood tht errors or
defects would be discoked after the IPO.See idat 17 (“Some errors in our products may only
be discovered after they have bemstalled and used by end-customers.”).) At bottom, the risk
disclosures were sufficiently comprehensivedoer defects that both greded and post-dated the
IPO, and adequately warned investors that any error could result in marked revenue decline.
Accordingly, the Court finds that reasonable minadigld not disagree as tbe lack of materiality
of Plaintiffs’ alleged misrepresentations and ssions, even accepting those allegations in the li
most favorable to Plaintiffs. Defendahmotion to dismiss on this ground@RANTED.
d. Statements About the Compag’'s Government Contracts

Plaintiffs allege that the Registration Statement shouwlé kdasclosed all information
required under the SEC rules, and that thisuishes a “trend” relatingp the decline of the
Company’s federal government sales and the effdeidafral sequestratiorPlaintiffs assert that
the Registration Statement should have disclosedrtaterial negative trend but failed to do so,
and the Defendants therefore violated Item 30Rexfulation S-K. Specificly, Plaintiffs allege
that in the months leading upttee IPO, the federal governmesaies had been declining and
materially impacting revenues. (CAC 19 57-6%he Registration Statement allegedly failed to
reflect accurately this trend, irstd indicating that the Company was undertaking to “increase t
sales to government customers.” (CAC | 54.) Httralso allege facts wbh, when taken as trug
and construed in a light favoralite Plaintiffs, establish that éhdecline in government sales was
reasonably likely to have an unfavoralgact on net sales or revenueSe¢CAC 1 57-64.)

Item 303 requires disclosure of “any known trendsincertainties that kia had or that the

registrant reasonably expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sal
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revenues or income from contimgi operations.” 17 C.F.R. § 229.388@3)(ii). The Ninth Circuit
has held that because Section 1pases liability if a rgistrant “omits to state a material fact
required to be stated” in the reggation statement, “any omission of facts ‘required to be stated
under Item 303 will producedbility under Section 11.'Steckman v. Hart Brewind43 F.3d
1293, 1296 (9th Cir. 1998).

Defendants counter that discloss in the Registration Statenevere sufficient and that
any trends would have been publicly known.aflthe federal government shut down in 2011 ha
profound results on the markets wadely and publicly known. SeeFed. R. Evid. 201(bkee
alsoDkt. No. 63-6, Sequester Order for Fiscal Year 20 80wever, at this early stage, the Cour
is not prepared to declare that reasonable ngod&l not disagree th#tere was no “trend” as
defined in Item 303 as of the date of the IPO forcWhlisclosure was requirexs a matter of law.

Defendants’ argument that the crux of Plaintifféegations is a claim that the Registratior]
Statement should have disclosefditaire trend projection, as opposedadhen-present trend, is
belied by the allegations in the CAC. Plaintifitege that in the months leading up to the IPO,
there was a material negative trend relatefederal government sales that should have been
disclosed pursuant to Item 303. (CAC 11 57-64.gr&memains a narrow question as to whethe
the months leading up to the IPO, federal sabebdeclined such thtdtere was a “trend” as
required for disclosure under Item 303. f@®lants’ motion to dismiss on this groundB&NIED.

e. Statements About DonaldBasile’s Former Employment

The CAC alleges omissions relating te thusiness experience and background of
Violin Memory’s former CEO, Defendant Basile. Basile served as the CEO of Fusion-io, a
competitor to Violin Memory in the flash memandustry, prior to joining Violin Memory in
2009. (CAC 1 12.) According to Plaintiffs, Fusiontésminated Basile “focause.” (CAC 1 73.)
Because Basile’s employment agreement withdfus lists five different grounds for a “for
cause” termination, all of which relate to his jolfpemance to varying degrees of ethical severit
Plaintiffs assume that one of those grounds formed the basis for Baiteisation. Plaintiffs
further argue that no matter which ground or growssised as the basis for Basile’s termination,

should have been disclosed in the RegistnraBtatement because each basis speaks to his
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background and competence and all are negativRC (C74.) Pursuant to Item 401 of Regulatio

S-K (17 C.F.R. § 229.401(e)(1)), the Registratttatement should have disclosed the omitted
material information relating to Basile’s “f@mause” termination because it related to his

“responsibilities in prior positions, overall pessional competence, experience, qualifications,
attributes, and skills to serve as [a] director{dl @fficer[] of a start-up fulicly traded company,”

and would have been considered by the public vdeending to invest. (B&C § 75.) Plaintiffs

=]

assert that the omitted information rendered the representations concerning Mr. Basile’s credentic

misleading, and that such information was matéoia reasonable investor’s decision to purchage

Violin Memory stock.
Defendants argue that the “for cause” terriamawas the substance of a civil lawsuit that
had been made part of the public record andhthdtresolved in a volurmadismissal before the

case was ever decided on the merits. (Dkt. Nat@5.) They thus contend that there was no d

ity

to disclose the lawsuit or the allegations theraig there was no way these facts could be mateyial

or “of any interest to aeasonable investor.”ld.)

The Court disagrees. The allegations in the CAken as true andnostrued in Plaintiffs’
favor, plausibly state that theasons given for Mr. Basile’sr@ination were material to a
reasonable investor’'s decisionmaking with respect to purchasing Company stock. Defendan
argue that Plaintiffs do not identiiny applicable duty requiringstilosure of “addional details”
concerning Mr. Basile’s prior goloyment with Fusion-io, but #t is not so. The regulation
requires disclosure of Mr. Basile’s prior wagkperience and competence, and his “for cause”

termination was relevant. Thus, Plaintiff h#leged that there was a duty to disclose, and the

Court finds that a reasonable investor could have considered the omitted information materia

Moreover, Defendants’ argument concerning thentary dismissal of the related civil action

ks

against Mr. Basile again begs the question of whether that fact is sufficient to render the alleged

omission immaterial. At this early juncture, ctvagg the facts alleged iRlaintiffs’ favor, the
Court cannot find that no reasonable investor could have had an interest in knowing that Mr.
had been terminated “for cause” from his positis CEO of Fusion-io.Defendants’ motion to

dismiss on this ground [BENIED.
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f. GAAP violation regarding purchase order commitments

Plaintiffs allege thaas of July 31, 2013, the Company failed to disclose the amount of 1
cancelable purchase orders for commitments that had a remaining term in excess of one yeg
the date of the latest balance sheet presentechtiféatlaim that this violated GAAP, specifically
FASB Codification 440-10-50-2 and 440-10-50-4. (CAC 11 81, 82.ntiRtaifurther allege that
in the Company’s report for the quarter en@edober 31, 2013, filed with the SEC on Form 10-(
Violin Memory disclosed that purchase commititsawere in excess of $85 million, including nor
cancelable purchase orders, an incréase January 31, 2013, of approximately 435%laintiffs
reason that this constitutesmaterial negative trend frodanuary 31, 2013, through October 31,
2013, and that it is highly unlikely that the i@pany did not haveng unconditional purchase
obligations as of July 31, 2013. Plaintiffs concldidat the amount of outmnding purchase orders
leading up to the IPO would have been com®d by reasonable investors in making their
decisions to purchase Violin Memory stock. Thhgy contend that the failure by Violin Memory
to disclose the amount of non-cancelable pureltasnmitments caused the Registration Statem
and, in particular the July 31, 2013, financialetagnts, to be misleading and in violation of
GAAP.

As an initial matter, “[a]s with any alledemisrepresentation, GAAP violations should
generally be more than ‘minor or technicaheture’ and ‘constitute[] widespread and significant
inflation™ to give rise tosecurities law liability.In re Countrywide Fin. Corp. Sec. Litj¢b88 F.
Supp. 2d 1132, 1197-98 (C.D. Cal. 2008) (dismissingi@edD(b) claim against auditor despite
alleged GAAP violations). Moreover, closesjrection of the Company’s SEC filing appears to
belie Plaintiffs’ claimed 435% increase. Theghase orders disclosed as of January 2013 werg
approximately $60,000 and in October had increased to approximately $85a00pareDkt.

No. 69-1 at 64with Dkt. No. 77-1 at 26°%) Accordingly, Plaintiffs havalleged no plausible facts,

! The Court notes that in their Opposition brigintiffs offer no citation to the documentar

record to substantiate these figuré&ather, Plaintiffs cite to pagraphs in their CAC, which as
noted above, also contains no citatioth® Registration Statement documents.

8 As noted above, Plaintiffs do not contestdhelants’ filing of a supplemental request for
judicial notice to include the SEfiling form 10-Q ending Octob&¥1, 2013. However, rather thar
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as opposed to mere conclusions, to show how disoof purchase order commitments as of JU
31, 2013, would have materially altdrthe “total mix” of inform#éion available to investorsBasic
Inc. v. Levinson485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (1988). Defendantstion to dismiss on this ground is
GRANTED.

3. Count 1, Part 2: Sectionl1 Claim — Loss Causation

As part of its overall analysis, distriadburts have dismissece&tion 11 claims on the
pleadings where it was apparent on the face ofdhgplaint that the plaintiffs would be unable to
establish loss causatioee, e.g., In re DNAP Sec. Litig000 WL 1358619, at *3 (N.D. Cal.
2000). The federal securities lap®vide a private right of action ghareholders “to protect then
against those economic losses that misrepresemsadctually cause,” “ndb provide investors
with broad insurance agst market losses.Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broud®44 U.S. 336, 345
(2005). Such causal losses occur wtienshare price falls significantifter the truth about the
untrue statements or misleadiomissions becomes knowtd. at 347;In re Daou Sys411 F.3dat
1027 (explaining that damages are recoveratieuthe federal securities laws when the
shareholders’ economic loss from the decline airtstock value was theréict result of alleged
misrepresentations).

In a Section 11 securities casaiptiffs need not allege lossusation, that is, the plaintiffs
need not allege that the misrepeatations in the registration statent caused the plaintiffs’ loss.
Ratherthe defendantsiay prove as an affirmative defensattthe plaintiffs’ loss, or some portion
thereof, was not caused by the géld misstatements or omissioi3efendants argue that this cas

warrants dismissal on this ground.

filing a motion for leave to file a sur-reply tddress the merits of Defendants’ reply arguments
concerning the import of this document, Plaintiffs have included substantive argument regard
Defendants’ new arguments in their “Reply Re Mntio Strike” (which, foreasons stated above,
the Court has construed as a brief in oppositiddbdafendants’ Request foudicial Notice). (Dkt.

No. 79 at 10-11.) The inclusion of such argumera brief purporting to address only whether the

Court should take judicial notice of certain doants is improper. écordingly, the Court has
considered arguments made therein relative lpwhether judicial notie can properly be taken.
Plaintiffs’ substantive argument regarding the Form Q-BIRsCKEN .
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As courts in other circuitsave explained, a plaintifhay establish loss causation by
alleging simply “that thesubjectof the fraudulent statement or omission was the cause of the a
loss suffered;” that defendants’ “misstatements@ndsions concealed theige-volatility risk (or
some other risk) that materializadd played some part in dinghing the market value of” the
security. Lentell v. Merrill Lynch & Cg, 396 F.3d 161, 173, 177 (2d Cir. 2005) (citation omitted
emphasis in original). That is, the loss musicaused by the “materialization of the concealed
risk.” Thus, “in order ‘[tjo plead loss causatidhe complainant must allege facts that support a
inference that [defendants’] misstatements angsions concealed the circumstances that bear
upon the loss suffered such that plaintiffs would Hasen spared all or an ascertainable portion
that loss absent the fraud.Ih re Charles Schwab Corp. Sec. Litig57 F.R.D. at 547 (citin re
Merrill Lynch & Co. Research Reports Sec. Litp8 F. Supp. 2d 349, 359 (D. Md. 2008)
(citations omitted)).

As detailed above, all but two of Plaiifdi claimed misstatements and omissions are
undermined by disclosures in the Registrationegtant and thus play no part in the instant
analysis. First, with respect to the failuretlué Registration Statementiteclude a trend pursuant
to Item 103 related to éhdeclining federal sales, the CAQegks that Plaintiffs suffered losses
when the stock price dropped following the Novembl Press Release and Earnings Call. (CAl
11 2, 62.) In the Press Releasd an the Earnings Call, the @pany revealed the disappointing
guarter results and attributdtk results to a decline in gonenent contract revenuesSgeCAC 19
2, 62; Dkt. No. 69-2 at 2, 4 and 5Given this link, the Court cannséy that Plaintiffs would not
be able to establish losausation. Defendants’ motiom dismiss on this ground BENIED.

However, with respect to the misstatemesricerning Mr. Basile’s prior employment
experience, Plaintiffs’ CAC lacks any allegation ttias misstatement is related to the loss they
purportedly suffered. Accordingl Defendants’ motion to dismiss this theory of Section 11
liability is GRANTED, but with leave to amend.

4, Section 12(a)(2) Claim AgainsUnderwriter Defendants
To state a claim under Section 1?23 against the UnderwriterBJaintiffs must allege that

the Underwriters were “sellers” within the meagiof the statute. Und&ection 12(a)(2), “any
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person who offers or sells a security” by meana @grospectus or orgommunication” that is
materially false or misleading is liable “tcetiperson purchasing such security from him.” 15
U.S.C. 8 7T(@)(2). The Supreme Court has defined “sellas™the owner who passed title,” or a
“person who successfully solicits the purchase, mat/at least in part by desire to serve his
own financial interests or thef the securities owner” +e., a broker.Pinter v. Dah} 486 U.S.
622, 642, 647see also Moore v. Kayport Package Express, B&5 F.2d 531, 537 (9th Cir. 1989
(applyingPinter's definition of seller to a Section 12(a)@aim and affirming dismissal for failure
to allege defendants “played any rakeall in soliciting the purchases’Rosenzweig v. Azurix
Corp, 332 F.3d 854, 871 (5th Cir. 2003) (“To counidasolicitation,’ the seller must, at a

minimum, directly communicate with the buyer.”Generally, issuersral underwriters are not

sellers within the meaning of Section 12 unless datively participate in the negotiations with thie

plaintiff/purchaser.” Thomas Lee Hazdfrme Law of Securities Regulatigr7.6[1] (5th ed. 2006);
see also Foster v. Jesup & Lamont Sec, T89 F.2d 838, 845-46 (11th Cir. 1985) (observing
“[t]he fact that Congress made every underwriter liable in § 11, buh @12, suggests that
underwriters are not to be liable und@el2 solely by virtue of thestatus as underwriters”; rather,
there must be a showing of ta® involvement in bringing abodlhe buy-sell transaction”),
abrogated on other grounds by Ryder Int’l Corp. v. First Am. Nat'| Ba4dk F.2d 1521, 1525-28
(11th Cir. 1991). “[I]t seems quite clear thatZ contemplates only an action by a buyer agains
his or her immediate sellerThat is to say, in the caséthe typical firm commitment
underwriting, the ultimate investor can recover only from the dealer who sold to him or her.”
RosenzweigB832 F.3d at 871 n.11 (quotation omitted). mifs must “show that the defendants
solicited purchase of ¢hsecurities for theiwwn financial gain.”Pinter, 486 U.S. at 647n re

Daou Sys.411 F.3d at 1029. “Mere participation”arsolicitation or sale does not suffideinter,
486 U.S. at 650. A plaintiff must allege tha tthefendants “had some ‘direct’ role in the
solicitation of the plaintiff.” CharlesSchwab 257 F.R.D. at 549 (citintn re Daou Sys.411 F.3d
at 1029) (finding 12(a)(2iability where underwriters hasigned the registration documents,
allegedly participated in thegdribution of the fund’s sharesffered, sold, and actively solicited

the sale of the fund’s shares, amadtain of the underwriters “partpated in the written or oral

30

[




United States District Court
Northern District of California

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

communications used to market the fund” drestvise “participated in the marketing of the
fund.”).

Defendants argue that the Comptaloes not allege that ShebkRichards obtained title to)
the securities directly frorng of the Underwriters. Defendis concede that there is one
allegation that Richards “bougbdbmmon stock . . . directly frodhP. Morgan” (CAC 1 9), but
argue that other than this one conclusory stateraintiffs do not allege any facts to establish
that Underwriters actively andrdctly solicited, communicated withr negotiated with Plaintiffs
in connection with their stock pcimases. The Court agrees.eT®AC contains no allegation that
the Underwriters actively solicited any Plaintifitheer named or class members, for sales of the
Violin Memory stock. Even with respect todRards, who allegedly “hmht” “directly from” an
underwriter, there are no allegatiacmcerning the nature of thatlesar that purport to depict J.P
Morgan — much less any of the other underwritesis having “solicited pulase” of the securities
for their own financial gain. That four of the Underwritéssrved as a joint book-running managef
and as a representative of the underwriters for the IPO” (CAC 11 21-24), without more, does not
suffice.

Accordingly, because the Complaint fails tiege facts sufficient to make plausible their
claim that that Underwriters constituted “sellengthin the meaning of Séion 12(a)(2), Plaintiffs
have failed to assert standingtaghis claim. Defendants’ motion to dismiss this claim is
GRANTED with leave to amend.

5. Section 15 Claim Against Individual Defendants

Section 15 of the Securities Act of 1933pimses joint and several liability upon every
person who controls any person liable underiBestl1 or 12 of the Act. 15 U.S.C.d{Tn re
Daou Sys., In¢411 F.3d at 1029-30. To state a control@edaim, plaintiff mst establish (1) a
primary violation of the pertinent federal securities laws, and (2) that defendants exercised a(
power or control over the primary violatobee Howard v. Everex Sys., [r#28 F.3d 1057, 1065
(9th Cir. 2000). Plaintiffs’ Section 15 claimpsedicated on their alleged Section 11 claimmste
Harmonic, Inc. Sec. Litig163 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1085 (N.D. Cal. 2001).
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Here, because Plaintiffs have not pleadedragerlying violation of Section 11 under most
of their theories, their contrglerson claim against the Individuaéfendants as to these same
theories fails and must be dismissdul.re InfonetServs. Corp. Sec. Litig310 F. Supp. 2d 1080,
1105 n. 24 (C.D. Cal. 2003). However, as tormaining theory for Section 11 liability — the
omission of a trend required to Bisclosed pursuant to Item 303 -aialiffs have alleged sufficient
factual allegations to permit this claim to move forward.

Il CONCLUSION
For the reasons sttt above, the Cou@RDERS as follows:

1.

10. Plaintiffs’ Section 15 claim i®ISMISSED in part.

This terminates Docket Numbers 61, 66, and 74.

| T 1SS0 ORDERED.
Date:October 31, 2014 é}»‘”” / w % ;"5(—

2. Plaintiffs’ motion to strike iSSRANTED in part;
3.
4

. Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim based on staents about the Company’s work with

Defendants’ requests for judicial notice &RANTED in part;

Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim based statements about PCle Card®isMISSED;

Toshiba iDISMISSED;

Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim based on stetents about the 6000 Flash Arrays is
DISMISSED;

Defendants’ motion to dismiss PlaintiffSection 11 claim based on statements about
the Company’s government contract®ENIED;
Defendants’ motion to dismiss PlaintiffSection 11 claim based on statements about
the Donald Basile’s former employmensNIED, and Plaintiffs shall have leave to
amend to address loss causation;

Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim badeon alleged GAAP violations BISMISSED;
Defendants’ motion to dismiss Ridiffs’ Section 12(a)(2) claim iISRANTED with leave

to amend; and

(/  YvONNE GONZALEZ ROGERS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
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